IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

**IN THE MATTER OF
THE HONORABLE TIM SWEENEY,
JUDGE OF THE 3RD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT**

**SUPREME COURT NO. 25-475
JIC COMPLAINT NO. 13-2025**

SCA EFiled: May 11 2026
09:39AM EDT
Transaction ID 79431180

JUDICIAL DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

Teresa A. Tarr, Counsel
WV Bar I.D. No. 5631
Judicial Investigation Commission
WV Judicial Tower, Suite 700A
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE
Charleston, WV 25304
(304) 558-0169
(304) 558-0831
teresa.tarr@courtswv.gov

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was appointed to a vacant Circuit Judge position in late 2010. He was first elected to the bench in 2012 and then won re-election in 2016 and 2024. He has served as a judge in his circuit continuously since 2010¹ (J. Ex. 18 at 1; Judicial Hearing Board (“JHB”) Tr. at 35, 40).

On or about February 10, 2025, Judicial Disciplinary Counsel (“JDC”) opened a complaint against Respondent (J. Ex. 1, BSP² 1-32; J. Ex. 18 at 1). On March 20, 2025, Respondent replied to the allegations contained in the complaint (J. Ex. 5, BSP 89-237; J. Ex. 18 at 1). The complaint, Respondent’s written response and sworn statement and all other evidence were submitted to the Judicial Investigation Commission (“JIC”) at its June 6, 2025 meeting (J. Ex. 18 at 2). By a vote of 7-1,³ the JIC decided to admonish Respondent pursuant to Rule 2.7(c) of the Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure (“RJDP”) (J. Ex. 18 at 2). The written admonishment was issued on June 12, 2025 (J. Ex. 1, BSP 13-25; J. Ex. 18 at 2). Respondent timely filed his objection on July 3,

¹ Before he became a judge, Respondent served as a prosecutor for 25 years (JHB Tr. at 40).

² BSP refers to the Bates Stamp page numbers in the top right-hand corner of Joint Exhibits 1-17.

³ In the formal charges, Judge Moats clarified his lone dissenting vote. Judge Moats voted that Respondent violated the CJC as set forth in the Admonishment and formal charges but that pursuant to Paragraph 6 under scope of the Code of Judicial Conduct imposition of discipline was not necessary. Instead, he voted to dismiss the complaint with a private warning letter and to issue an advisory opinion to all judges (J. Ex. No. 1, BSP 10.)

2025 (J. Ex. 1, BSP 26-32; J. Ex. 18 at 2). On or about July 21, 2025, the JIC voted 8-1 to issue formal charges (J. Ex. 1, BSP 1-32; J. Ex. 18 at 2). The July 22, 2025 filing was consistent with RJDP 2.7(c) which states that if an objection is filed to an admonishment “the Commission shall file a formal charge. . . .” The first charge consisted of allegations that Respondent violated Rules 1.1, 1.2, 2.10(A), 3.1(C) and 3.7(A)(2) of the Code of Judicial Conduct (“CJC”) for various posts, reposts or shares from his Facebook account. The second charge alleged that Respondent violated CJC Rules 1.1, 1.2, 2.6(A) and 2.10(A) arising from an Administrative Order involving the Department of Human Services (“DHS”) and contacting a newspaper reporter, giving him a copy of the Order and sitting for an interview. Respondent timely filed his Answer denying any violations of the Code (J. Ex. 2, BSP 33-48); J. Ex. 18 at 2).

A hearing was held before the JHB on December 10, 2025 (JHB Tr.). At that time, JDC and Respondent introduced 17 joint exhibits. Joint Exhibits 1-9 and 12-17 were admitted into evidence without objection (JHB Tr. at 31). Although Respondent stipulated to the authenticity of Exhibits 10 and 11, he did raise objections (JHB Tr. at 31-32). With respect to Exhibit 10, which is a copy of JIC Advisory Opinion 2023-23 and an email showing that it had been transmitted to all judges on the day it was released, Respondent’s attorney stated:

I believe that under Rule of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure 2.13(d), it says that “[A]n advisory opinion is not binding on the Judicial Hearing Board or the Court but shall be admissible in any subsequent disciplinary proceeding involving the requesting judge.” I think that means, at least in this case, that it’s my understanding and absent a foundation that these opinions were requested by Judge Sweeney, that under the rule that those are not admissible against him.

(JHB Tr. at 31). JDC countered:

I believe Judge Sweeney will testify that he has a duty to remain current on the Code of Judicial Conduct and the ethics rules. The email shows that it was sent to all circuit judges, including Judge Sweeney. . . . [I]t was an advisory opinion that was directed to Judge Akers, but he received a copy of it, and under Rule 4.12 [of the Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure], if he knew or should have known that

it was a perceived violation, that is a factor to be considered. And so, I would argue that he knew or should have known based on JIC Advisory Opinion 2023-23, and therefore, it is admissible because he did receive a copy of it.

(JHB Tr. at 32-33).

Concerning Exhibit 11, which are the comments appended to news articles about Respondent's conduct, his attorney stated:

[T]o the extent that they are being offered to show that folks had a bad opinion of DHS because of the interviews, there's no foundation for that. There may be bad comments in there where people say, "I don't like DHS," but to foundationally link one of those up to the other to the point where that can be made, I don't think that foundation has been laid. And I think that for that purpose to the extent that they are being offered to say, "Well, I really do have a problem against DHS," that they are classic hearsay. It doesn't fit into an exception.

(JHB Tr. at 32). JDC replied:

One thing we're forgetting is that there's an appearance issue, and a lot of the posts that are in there are pro-Judge Sweeney, and if they are pro-Judge Sweeney on this issue based on what he raised, then they've got to be anti-DOH because that's what happened here. And some of the comments are negative to DOH, and I think they're relevant because they follow this story. And it's not that we're saying that all we have to show is that there is an appearance issue – and there is an appearance issue – and I don't know any other way to show it unless we can get these documents in. Now, I would argue that appearance doesn't necessarily have to be shown. It's by the action itself that can create the appearance.

(JHB Tr. at 33-34). Partial stipulations were jointly admitted (J. Ex. No. 18; JHB Tr at 36-38).

Respondent testified that he entered into the stipulations of his own free will (JHB Tr. at 37).

Respondent was the sole witness to testify at hearing (JHB Tr. at 35 to 101). He acknowledged his sworn statement of May 22, 2025 (JHB Tr. at 71). Respondent testified that he answered the questions to the best of his ability (JHB Tr. at 71-72). He also acknowledged that he was truthful when answering (JHB Tr. at 72).

Both parties timely filed post hearing briefs. On February 19, 2026, the JHB declined to admit Exhibit Nos. 10 and 11 into evidence. However, it found that Respondent violated some but

not all of the alleged violations with respect to both Charges. The JHB also recommended that Respondent be admonished and pay costs. On March 18, 2026, JDC filed objections to the recommended decision and submitted costs in the amount of \$1,210.05. On March 19, 2026, Respondent filed his objections to the recommended decision.

II.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

JDC agrees with the Judicial Hearing Board, which found violations of the CJC with respect to Charges I and II. JDC disagrees with the recommended decision wherever the JHB found no violation with respect to charged misconduct. JDC also agrees with the recommended discipline of admonishment and the payment of costs in the amount of \$1,210.05.

As to specific assignments of error, JDC alleges the following with respect to Charge I: the JHB erred in not finding: (1) that all posts mentioning law enforcement and all posts involving criminal charges violated CJC Rule 1.2; (2) that all posts including those not liked but shared violated CJC Rule 2.10(A); that all posts mentioning law enforcement and all posts involving criminal charges violated CJC Rule 3.1(c); and that the solicitation reposts violated CJC Rule 3.7(A)(2). With respect to Charge II, the JHB erred in not: (1) admitting Joint Exhibit Nos. 10 and 11 at hearing; and (2) a violation of CJC Rule 2.6(A), particularly in light of its determination that a show cause order was preferable.

III.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Although JDC would agree to submit this case on the briefs and record alone, the Court has indicated in its March 27, 2027 scheduling order that the matter “shall be set for oral argument under Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure during the September 2026 Term of Court.”

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. CHARGE I:

Respondent has had a Facebook account for approximately 15 years (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 250; J. Ex. No. 18 at 2). Respondent is the administrator of the account (J. Ex. No., BSP 250-251; J. Ex. No. 18 at 2). At all times related to the information set forth below, Respondent had a photo of himself in his judicial robe in a courtroom with the American flag behind him as his primary Facebook photo (J. Ex. No. 3, BSP 61; J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 259-260; J. Ex. No 18 at 2; JHB Tr. At 77). According to Respondent, it was from a picture taken after an adoption in his courtroom (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 260). Respondent admitted he chose the picture (JHB Tr. at 64). Respondent also noted that he could see where the use of his robe “might have created the appearance that this was under some kind of authority that I had” (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 261).

Respondent repeatedly posted or reposted items that constituted improper solicitations; created in the mind of the public, however wrong it may be, that he was biased in favor of law enforcement and prosecutors; and/or improperly commented on pending/impending court cases. The posts at issue fall into seven categories:

1. Fundraiser reposts:

- A 7/17/2024 repost stating St. Mary’s VFD Annual Ice Cream Social with a drawing for an ebike. 1 ticket for \$10. Underneath it stated “Show your support for the fire department by purchasing a raffle ticket for a battery powered bicycle. Contact any firefighter to get your chance in the drawing.”
- A 7/3/2024 repost of a Jeremy Rhodes fundraiser at Calvary Baptist Church to help defray medical expenses. Mr. Rhodes is a member of the Pleasants County Sheriff’s Office. Respondent reposted the same fundraiser again on July 26, 2024.
- A July 25, 2024 repost of a Subway medical fundraiser for Jeremy Rhodes. Mr. Rhodes is a member of Pleasant’s County Sheriff’s Office.

(J. Ex. No. 3 at 70, 72, 74, 75; J. Ex. 18 at 2).

With respect to these posts, Respondent admitted placing all of them on his Facebook website and that he knew when doing so they would be seen by pretty much everybody (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 251-252). He also knew at the time that Mr. Rhodes was a Pleasants County Sheriff's deputy (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 252; JHB Tr. at 65). Respondent said he did not mean the posts to be solicitations as set forth in CJC Rule 3.7(A)(2) but that he viewed them as merely informational (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP at 254; JHB Tr. at 65-66, 71). Importantly, Respondent admitted the following:

Q. Would you agree that by reposting those, it does create the appearance, however wrong it may be, that you were soliciting on behalf of the entities that you're posting for?

A. Yeah. I would readily acknowledge the interpretation or understanding from someone who was in receipt of that.

(J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 254; JHB Tr. at 72-73). Importantly, Respondent also wanted the public to know that "I was spreading the word that this was going on, just so people could know I supported the deputy for whatever the event was" (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP at 254).

2. Law Enforcement/Prosecutor Posts:

Between March 4, 2024, and February 5, 2025, Respondent reposted several hiring posts for various law enforcement/prosecutor entities including the Tyler County Sheriff's Office, the Ritchie County Sheriff's Office, the Paden City Police Department, the City of St. Mary's Police Clerk, the State Police, the DNR Police and the Doddridge County Assistant Prosecutor.

(J. Ex. No. 3, BSP 68, 69, 71, 73, 78, 79, 86; J. Ex. 18 at 2-3; JHB Tr. at 74).

Respondent again asserted that the posts were informational only (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 255; JHB Tr. at 66). Respondent testified:

Q. Do you understand why those posts could be construed by the public, however wrong it may be, that you are pro-prosecution and pro-law enforcement?

A. I understand that could be a conclusion drawn by somebody who read these posts. That is reasonable.

(J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 255).

3. An October 21, 2024 repost from the Pleasants County Sheriff's Post beginning with "Attention Drug Dealers:"

This was a tongue-in-cheek posting by the Pleasants County Sheriff's Department which said, "Is your drug dealing competition costing you money? Would you like to eliminate that problem? We can help. We can take your competition off the streets for free. Report your competition to us!"

(J. Ex. No. 3, BPS 77; J. Ex. 18 at 3).

Respondent said he posted it because he thought "it was pretty funny." (J. Ex. 7, BSP 257; JHB Tr. at 67). Respondent also testified:

- Q. Can you see where adding that post to the posts you have about job opportunities within the police departments and the sheriff and the prosecutor's office, and where at least two of the fundraising posts involve a sheriff's department, do you see where that may create the appearance, however wrong it may be, that you are pro-prosecution, pro-law enforcement?
- A. I can see, yes, that contextually and cumulatively that would perhaps support that conclusion.

(J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 259; JHB Tr. at 74).

4. A July 2023 repost that Jody Alan Satterfield is wanted for Attempted Murder and Attempted Arson in Calhoun County—Considered Dangerous.

Underneath the re-post from the Pleasants County Sheriff's Office it further stated: "This individual is considered armed and dangerous. He has potentially been seen in an adjoining county and may be in the area. DO NOT APPROACH. If you believe you have seen him contact 911 immediately."

(J. Ex. No. 3, BSP 62-64; J. Ex. No. 18 at 3).

Respondent acknowledged that the matter was pending at the time he made the post (JHB Tr. at 74). Respondent stated that the post was informational but also acknowledged it was not his job to let the public know that an alleged criminal was on the loose:

- Q. [Y]ou would agree that at the time that you posted it, he was wanted for a crime so the case could've been pending; is that correct? Or was it?

A. Yeah, I would've guessed it was a pending case because they were wanting him, and they had not brought it to court.

....

Q. Okay. Can you now see where that, coupled with all the other prosecutor, law enforcement things, may create the appearance, however wrong it may be, that you are pro-prosecution, pro-law enforcement?

A. Uh-huh. Maybe with the other ones. But I think there's probably less likelihood that somebody's going to look at that and think that I'm pro-prosecution versus I'm just kind of public safety and warning you. This is on there, and I'm passing it along that there might be somebody out there that's dangerous. But that conclusion would not be unreasonable.

Q. Isn't that the role of the prosecutor and law enforcement to let the public know, and not the judge?

A. Yeah. Maybe more so. Maybe more so. Maybe it's a matter of shifting gears from 25 years as a prosecutor, being in a community. So I can see that. Probably more so. I would agree.

(J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 265-267; JHB Tr. at 67-68, 74).

5. Human Trafficking Reposts:

- 1) The first involved an October 31, 2023 repost from WSAZ-TV which stated, "Pair arrested for alleged human trafficking. State Police say Pearson 'preys on vulnerable, drug addicted, homeless.'"
- 2) The second involved a November 1, 2023 repost from Newsbreak.com which stated, "West Virginia woman trafficked teen victim for just under \$14,000; sentenced to 40 years."

(J. Ex. No. 3, BSP 65-67; J Ex. No. 18 at 3).

Respondent acknowledged that both posts involved pending cases (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 267, 269; JHB Tr. at 75). Respondent also acknowledged that it was inappropriate for him to post about pending matters (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 269-270).

6. January 29, 2025 Repost from the Kanawha County WV Prosecuting Attorney on the Whitefeather/Lantz case:

Whitefeather/Lantz were a couple who adopted several African American children and were the subject of a high-profile criminal case in Kanawha County. In late January, a jury convicted the couple of multiple charges of abusing and trafficking the adopted children. They were later sentenced to long prison terms. Respondent reposted a story about the couple's conviction/sentence which generated multiple negative comments on his

Facebook page. Respondent liked three of the negative comments, including “So terrible!! Thankful these two have been convicted. . . .;” and “They don’t deserve three hots and a cot.”

(J. Ex. No. 3, BSP 80-85; J. Ex. 18 at 3; JHB Tr. at 76-79).

Respondent acknowledged making the post and liking three negative comments appended thereto (J. Ex. 7, BSP 272-275, JHB Tr. at 76-79). He also noted that the matters were still pending as they could be appealed to the State Supreme Court. Respondent also acknowledged that by liking the negative comments he was saying that he was thankful the two were convicted (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 274-275). With respect to his actions, Respondent stated:

Q. Why do you agree that that post is not appropriate?

A. In retrospect. Again, it fits into the whole narrative for potential for interpretation that there’s an inclination toward pro-law enforcement, and its contrary to the requirement of the judiciary to be fair and impartial.

(J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 275). Respondent stated in his sworn statement, “Well, you know, in retrospect, the whole package of my involvement in publicizing these matters . . . has the risk of impugning the impartiality of the judiciary.” At hearing, Respondent acknowledged that by wearing his robe, it gave the impression that he was speaking in his official capacity when he made the Facebook posts (JHB Tr. at 79).

7. An August 18, 2024 Repost from the Pleasants County Sheriff’s Office.

The post contained a photo of a Sheriff’s SUV and stated, “If any of your children were patients at Mindfulness in Saint Marys and had any issues regarding medication that was prescribed please reach out to us at 304-684-2285.”

(J. Ex. No. 3, BSP 76; J. Ex. No. 18 at 3). Since receiving the complaint, Respondent has taken down all offending posts, has changed his primary Facebook photo and set his account to private (J. Ex. No. 3, BSP 277; JHB Tr. at 64).

B. CHARGE II

In October 2024, Respondent held a Rule 39⁴ abuse and neglect hearing involving a minor. Respondent ordered the child to be placed in an out-of-state treatment facility (J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 278-280; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4; JHB Tr. at 50-51, 80-81). The local CPS workers were required to go through certain hoops and meet certain deadlines before the child could be sent to an out-of-state facility (J. Ex. No. 5, BSP 169-172; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4).

Respondent held another Rule 39 hearing on February 3, 2025, to find out why CPS had not yet sent the child to placement (J. Ex. No. 5, BSP 160-196; J. Ex. No. 7, BSP 282-283, 289; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4; JHB Tr. at 80-82). The only people in attendance were the prosecuting attorney, the child's attorney, the Guardian Ad Litem, two probation officers, and two local CPS workers (J. Ex. No. 5, BSP 160; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4; JHB Tr. at 84). Neither the DHS Secretary nor any of his immediate subordinates were in attendance (J. Ex. No. 5, BSP 160; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4; JHB Tr. at 84).

The local workers testified at hearing (J. Ex. No. 5, BSP 168-195; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4; JHB Tr. at 51, 84). They stated that the reason for the delay was that they were severely overworked and understaffed and had to prioritize cases based on who was safe and who wasn't by way of

⁴ Rule 39(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Procedure for Child Abuse and Neglect Proceedings ("RPCANP") states:

At least once every three months until permanent placement is achieved as defined in Rule 6, the Court shall conduct a permanent placement review conference, requiring the multidisciplinary treatment team to attend and report as to progress and development in the case for the purpose of reviewing the progress in the permanent placement of the child.

J. Ex. No. 12, BSP 426; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4). Permanent placement occurs when the petition has been dismissed and the child has been returned home or to a relative with no custodial supervision by DHS; has been placed in the permanent custody of a non-abusive parent or a permanent out-of-home placement of the child has been achieved following entry of a final disposition order. A permanent-out of home placement has been achieved only when the child has been adopted, placed in a legal guardianship, placed in another planned permanent living arrangement or emancipated (J. Ex. No. 12, BSP 394; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4). RPCANP 6 states that "[e]ach child abuse and neglect proceeding shall be maintained on the circuit court's docket until permanent placement of the child has been achieved" (J. Ex. No. 12, BSP 398; J. Ex. No. 18 at 4).

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