BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jun 25 2026
02:14PM EDT
Case ID 79874674

IN THE MATTER OF

**THE HONORABLE TIM SWEENEY,
JUDGE OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT**

SUPREME COURT NO. 25-475

JIC COMPLAINT NO. 13-2025

**THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY L. SWEENEY'S
RESPONSE BRIEF**

J.H. Mahaney (WV State Bar #6993)
DINSMORE & SHOHL LLP
611 Third Avenue
Huntington, WV 25701
Telephone: (304) 691-8320
Facsimile: (304) 522-4312
Email: john.mahaney@dinsmore.com
Counsel for the Honorable Timothy L. Sweeney

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

Supreme Court held that there was no evidence that the posts prejudiced the proceedings in any way, and cast no doubt on the judge's independence, integrity, or impartiality. *Id.* at 854.

Under the *Sierra Pacific* and *Slaughter* cases, the Satterfield Post does not violate Rule 2.10(A) or warrant discipline. Like in *Sierra Pacific* and *Slaughter*, Judge Sweeney reposted, without commentary, a post on social media that shared information about an impending matter. There is no evidence that this post had any impact whatsoever on any case ultimately brought against Mr. Satterfield. Standing alone, under *Sierra Pacific* and *Slaughter*, this alone compels resolution in Judge Sweeney's favor. See *Sierra Pacific*, 862 F.3d at 1175; *Slaughter*, 480 S.W.3d at 854. Indeed, the facts are even more favorable to Judge Sweeney than to the judges in *Sierra Pacific* and *Slaughter*, for two reasons. First, unlike *Sierra Pacific* and *Slaughter*, the Satterfield Post did not assert the guilt of Mr. Satterfield. It simply stated truthful factual information: that he was wanted for (not guilty of) certain crimes, that he might be in the area around Calhoun County, and he was considered by law enforcement to be armed and dangerous. Second, unlike *Sierra Pacific* and *Slaughter*, the Satterfield case was merely impending and could not have been prosecuted in Judge Sweeney's court. The risk of the Satterfield Post affecting the outcome or impairing the fairness of the Satterfield proceedings is far lower than in *Sierra Pacific* and *Slaughter* to the point of being non-existent.

Fourth, it ignores the real-world reality of being a judge, particularly in a small town in West Virginia. The Satterfield Post was obviously not "rul[ing] on an issue that has not yet been adjudicated." 2016 Model Code of Jud. Conduct 2.10 (quoting *In re Benoit*, 523 A.2d 1381 (Me. 1987)). It was an informational post about an issue of public safety in small, rural communities. Judges do not stop being members of their communities when they become judges and continue to share the same concern for their friends and community members as they did before they went

on the bench. There was no risk of harm to Mr. Satterfield or the judicial system in Judge Sweeney's repost. At the same time, given his position in the community, it had societal benefit to the residents of small towns like St. Marys, Harrisville and West Union where Judge Sweeney's friends lived. By reposting the Satterfield Post, Judge Sweeney did not criticize Mr. Satterfield or praise law enforcement. He was simply doing his small part to keep his community safe. It defies fairness and common sense to punish him in any way for doing so.

b. The Mindfulness Post did not violate Rule 2.10(A).

The "Mindfulness Post" was another repost stating, "If any of your children were patients at Mindfulness in Saint Marys and had any issues regarding medication that was prescribed please reach out to us at 304-684-2285." JA 76. The Board claimed that the Mindfulness Post "involved an impending matter (i.e. presumably on-going criminal investigation)" and therefore it "could be reasonably expected to affect the outcome or impair the fairness of any resulting proceedings which would be heard by Respondent." RD at II(27)(h).

However, by its terms, the JHB's decision rests upon a "presumption" and not fact because there was no proof by "clear and convincing evidence" that there was any impending matter. The CJC defines an "impending matter" as a matter that is "imminent or expected to occur in the near future." CJC Terminology. In *In re McCutcheon*, a judge's grandson and the grandson's friend were stopped by local police and called the judge for advice during the investigation. 846 A.2d 801, 810 (Pa. Ct. Jud. Disc. 2004). The judge guided the grandson and his friend in what to do and how best to cooperate with the police. *Id.* at 804. Five days later, a DUI citation was issued to the friend. *Id.* at 805. The issue was whether the judge's phone call violated Rule 2.10(A). *Id.* at 810. The Pennsylvania Court of Judicial Discipline held, "[o]bviously the case was not 'impending'...Are courts supposed to consider a case 'impending' because some policeman is thinking about making some charge?" *Id.* at 811.

In this case, there is not “clear and convincing evidence” that the Mindfulness Post was about a pending or impending matter. The only evidence in the record is that the Pleasants County Sheriff’s Office posted a phone number for people to call who had “issues regarding medication.” There is no evidence of any “on-going criminal investigation”; the Board had to simply “presume” that such an investigation existed. But even assuming *arguendo* that such an investigation was being considered, the matter could not be considered impending under *McCutcheon* (“thinking about making some charge” “obviously” does not make a matter “impending”).

Moreover, the JHB’s conclusion that the post could affect the outcome of any subsequent proceeding or impact its fairness is not supported by the record. Like the Satterfield post, it was simply informational. It expressed no opinion on a matter to be adjudicated and passed no judgment on Mindfulness’ activities. There was no risk of harm to Mindfulness or the judicial system in Judge Sweeney’s repost. There is no clear and convincing evidence that the repost violated the CJC and no basis in fairness or common sense to punish the Judge for making it.

c. The remaining posts do not violate Rule 2.10(A)

The JHB correctly held that there was no evidence in the record that any of Judge Sweeney’s posts “actually affected the outcome or impaired the fairness of any of the pending or impending matters” identified in the Statement of Charges. RD at 17 ¶ 28(c). As Judge Sweeney testified at the December 10, 2025 hearing, Judge Sweeney has been an advocate for initiatives to raise public awareness about human trafficking. (JHB Tr. 68-70.) These initiatives include presentations at local high schools in conjunction with the West Virginia Secretary of State and this Court. *Id.* As part of those initiatives, Judge Sweeney posted each of the human trafficking posts at issue in this case, including the Pair Arrested in Mason County, the Federal Trafficking Conviction and the Whitefeather Matter. The JHB correctly held that, because the posts merely

relayed publicly available information about the matters RD at 17 ¶¶ 28(d), (e) and (f), and because the Federal Trafficking and Whitefeather cases had already concluded, Judge Sweeney's posts could not have changed the outcome or impacted the fairness of these cases. These conclusions were clearly correct in light of the record, and the JHB's only mistake was in not applying them equally to the Satterfield and Mindfulness posts.

D. Judge Sweeney did not violate CJC Rule 3.7

JDC also contends that this Court should punish Judge Sweeney because he (1) shared a fundraising post from the St. Marys Volunteer Fire Department for a drawing conducted as part of its annual Ice Cream Social, RD 1 at ¶ 4(a)(1); and (2) shared two posts that involved fundraisers for Jeremy Rhodes, a local Pleasants County Sheriff's Department deputy who was dying of cancer. The JHB concluded because Judge Sweeney did not request or urge anyone to contribute to the fundraisers or add any independent commentary to the reposts encouraging or promoting them, they were merely a "passive dissemination" of community information and not a direct or active solicitation that violated CJC Rule 3.7(A)(2). RD 20 at ¶¶ 34-37. Likening these reposts to the pedaling of Amway products, JDC contends that this conclusion was wrong and should be rejected. JDC Br. at 41-42. That contention is surprisingly tone-deaf to the world in which judges live and work, and thankfully unsupported by the CJC.

JDC's reliance on Judge Sweeney's statement is misplaced. Rule 3.7 (A)(2) does not say that it is violated if someone *believes* Judge Sweeney is soliciting contributions; it is only violated if the judge is *actually* soliciting contributions. But Judge Sweeney never admitted that he was *actually* soliciting contributions; in fact, he denied that these posts were solicitations. (J. Ex. 7, BSR 0254:4-8). He testified that he was simply trying to provide information about upcoming events to members of his community. *Id.*; (JHB Tr. 65:12-66:2). Moreover, the Events Reposts

are not solicitations, as defined in the CJC. Judge Sweeney simply shared information about these events with no commentary. They were not directed to anyone. Judge Sweeney never requested financial support or encouraged anyone to attend or give.

Rule 3.7(A)(2) was not adopted to stop judges from posting about upcoming events, and certainly not about community events that have clear societal benefit. Rather, the rule is to keep judges from pressuring litigants to donate to the judge's pet projects, most importantly, his campaign. The Events Posts did none of those things. The cases relied upon by the JDC in its brief are obviously distinguishable and inapposite. This Court should not interpret or apply the CJC in a manner that ignores the role that judges play in their community. As the JHB noted, there is no risk that anyone would feel compelled to contribute to either of the fundraisers at the peril of angering Judge Sweeney. RD 20 at ¶ 36. Absent such risk, there is no basis to extend its reach to actions such as those involved here that enhance, not detract from the public's respect for the integrity of the judiciary and its members.⁴

E. The JHB's Evidentiary Rulings Were Correct

The JHB correctly excluded Joint Exhibits 10 and 11. Exhibit 10 contains JIC advisory opinions that were not issued to Judge Sweeney. Under Rule 2.13(d) of the Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure, "[a]n advisory opinion is not binding on the Judicial Hearing board or the Court, but shall be admissible in any subsequent disciplinary proceeding involving the requesting judge." The corollary to this rule is that such an opinion is inadmissible against a non-requesting judge. According to JDC, Exhibit 10 was offered to prove that Judge Sweeney knew that his

⁴ The JHB also found that Judge Sweeney violated CJC Rule 1.1, but that finding was derivative of its other conclusions. RD 27, ¶ 3. For the reasons set forth herein, Judge Sweeney did not violate Rule 1.1. JDC also asserts that Judge Sweeney violated Rule 1.1 by revealing confidential information from the Feb. 3, 2025 hearing, but offers no record or legal citation to support its contention. If JDC's contention is based on W.Va. Code 49-5-101(a), it must be rejected because not information "concerning a child or juvenile" was disclosed.

actions were wrong. But there is no exception to Rule 2.13(d) that would allow its admission for such purpose. In fact, the opposite is true. If it is not being offered against the requesting Judge, this Court (not the JIC) makes the applicable legal determinations. Because they are in admissible and an incorrect statement of law issued to other judges under facts completely dissimilar to this case, the JHB correctly ruled that the opinions were inadmissible under Rule 2.13(d), and as inconsistent with Rule 2.13(d). RD 30, ¶¶ (C)-(E).

Exhibit 11 is a collection Facebook posts responding to Judge Sweeney's admonishment. The vast majority are positive, and support Judge Sweeney. "Tim Sweeney is a great man and Judge He should be commended not admonished." (J. Ex. 11, BSR 0361). "I will always support Judge Tim Sweeney. I think if a judge can't speak up for children, who then???? Thank You Tim for stepping up and trying to help these children." (*Id.*, 0375). "Judge Timothy Sweeney ... is one of the few honest judges West Virginia has." (*Id.*, 0384). But a few vented their frustrations with DHS in a variety of ways. It is these comments that JDC seeks to admit to establish that he commenters developed negative attitudes to DHS **because of Judge Sweeney's actions**. The purpose for which the evidence was offered is what makes it inadmissible.

The JHB correctly ruled that Exhibit 11 is clearly inadmissible hearsay. They are clearly out-of-court statements offered to prove the truth of their assertions: that the commenter did not like DHS. As such, they were in admissible. As the proponent of the Facebook comments, JDC must prove all facts necessary to establish their admissibility. But here, JDC simply offers Facebook comments *en masse* without any foundation as to how they show that Judge Sweeney's actions or comments caused or resulted in the negative comments. Contrary to JDC's assertions, each alleged negative statement must be analyzed separately to determine its admissibility. No court or adjudicative panel can simply admit out-of-court statements *en masse* without making an

individualized determination of their admissibility. Foundationally, there is no evidence that any negative comment was due to Judge Sweeney's actions rather than the commenter's individual experience with DHS or the commenter's pre-existing prejudices regarding DHS. Without such foundation, they were not admissible. *Matter of Goldston*, 866 S.E.2d 126 (W.Va. 2021) is clearly distinguishable because no hearsay objection to the admission to the comments was asserted, and an appropriate foundation for their admission was laid. Moreover, there is no record evidence that any exception to any hearsay rule has been satisfied as to any specific comment. See, e.g., *State v. Phillips*, 194 W. Va. 569, 576–79 (1995) (setting forth the requirements for admitting a statement under the present sense impression exception); *State v. Sutphin*, 195 W. Va. 551, 563–65 (1995) (setting for the requirements for admitting a statement under the excited utterance exception). Absent evidence that each comment satisfies an exception, they were not admissible.

F. JDC's Reference to Judge Sweeney's June 28, 2025, Facebook Posts is Knowingly Improper

From the outset, this case has never been about the administration of justice or maintaining the public's confidence in West Virginia's judiciary. If that were so, this case would never have been brought or pursued. As uncomfortable as it is to concede, this case is about denigrating a Judge's reputation solely for the purpose of doing so. In other words, it is about winning for winning's sake regardless of the consequences. Although the JHB concluded that Judge Sweeney committed technical violations of the JDC, it found that "there is no evidence that [he] had any intent to prejudice the rights of the party or that he acted with improper motive," RD at 22 ¶ 46, that his "concerns about severe understaffing by the Department of Human Services were legitimate and [his] actions resulted in correction by the Department," RD at 29 ¶ 11, and that he was "trying to do something good for both children and local DHS workers when he initiated attempts to correct understaffing in his jurisdiction." RD at 29 ¶ 12. Nonetheless, JDC claims

that Judge Sweeney should be punished by this Court because these actions constituted “a callous disregard for our system of justice.” JDC Br. At 50-51. JDC’s contentions are irreconcilable with the JHB’s findings and the clear facts of this case but underscore the “win at all costs” approach that JDC has taken.⁵

Underscoring this approach is JDC’s reference to Judge Sweeney’s June 28, 2025 Facebook post. JDC asks this Court to consider this post as evidence that “failed to learn anything from this disciplinary action” even though it was never part of the Statement of Charges against him or submitted as evidence to the JHB. Substantively and procedurally, the post has no bearing on this case and should have never been included in the JDC’s brief. All of Judge Sweeney’s conduct in this case, whether related to his February 3, 2025 Order or his Facebook posts, were done to advance the greater good of the community in which he lived. Whether related to the February 3, 2025 Order or Facebook posts about open law enforcement positions, drug dealers, human trafficking or a sheriff’s deputy dying of cancer, his action promoted the betterment and lives of others. Rather than conceding these facts or lauding Judge Sweeney’s efforts, JDC simply seeks to “win” this case by denigrating Judge Sweeney to this Court regardless of the societal cost.

The post cannot, and should not, be considered for three reasons. First, it was never contained in the Statement of Charges or submitted as evidence to the JHB. Any allegation regarding it has therefore been waived. Second, as this Court has unequivocally held, “a judge may not be disciplined consistent with the First Amendment to the United States Constitution or with Section 7 of Article III of the West Virginia Constitution for his remarks during a radio

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